Copyright by Amit Kumar 2014

The Capstone Committee for Amit Kumar Certifies that this is the approved version of the following capstone:

The Effect of Obesity on Disability and Mortality in Mexican Older Adults

Committee:

Soham Al Snih, MD, Ph.D., Supervisor, Chair

Rebeca Wong, Ph.D.

James Graham, Ph.D.

Kenneth J. Ottenbacher, PhD

Dean, Graduate School

The Effect of Obesity on Disability and Mortality in Mexican Older Adults

by

Amit Kumar, BPh.T, MS

Capstone Project

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas Medical Branch in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Public Health

The University of Texas Medical Branch May, 2014

Dedication

I would like to dedicate my capstone to all older adults living in Mexico.

Acknowledgements

I owe many thanks to many great people, who helped and supported me during my MPH program. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my committee chair, Dr Soham Al Snih, who has given quality of time and effort in making this project successful. Without her guidance and support, this capstone would not have been possible.

I express my genuine gratefulness to Dr. Kenneth Ottenbacher for supporting my MPH program. He continuously motivated me and gave genuine advice throughout my MPH program. I express my sincere thanks to my committee members Dr. Rebeca Wong and Dr. James Graham for their critical feedback on this project. I would like to express my warm appreciation to Dr. Kristen Peek for her encouragement and supporting me in attending several conferences relevant to this research project. I would also like to express my profound gratitude to MPH program director Dr. Christine M. Arcari and Dr. Melanie de Boer for teaching me important skills and methods in epidemiology. I incorporated several epidemiological tools and technique in this capstone project, which I learned in their class.

I heartily thanks to Mrs. Shannon Carroll for providing administrative support during my MPH program. In addition, thank you to Ms. Beth Cammarn and Ms. Vivian Brannen for providing books and technical support. At last I am fortunate enough to get constant motivation and support from all classmates, teaching staff, and non-teaching staff of Department of Preventive Medicine and Community Health.

THE EFFECT OF OBESITY ON DISABILITY AND MORTALITY IN MEXICAN OLDER ADULTS

Publication No._____

Amit Kumar, BPH.T, MS The University of Texas Medical Branch, 2014

Supervisor: Soham Al Snih

Abstract

Objective: To examine the effect of obesity on incidence of disability and mortality among non-disabled older Mexicans at baseline.

Methods: The sample included 8,415 Mexicans aged \geq 50 years from the Mexican Health and Aging Study (2001-2012) who reported no limitations in activities of daily living (ADLs) at baseline and have complete data on all covariates. Socio-demographics, smoking status, comorbidities, ADL activities, and body mass index (BMI) were collected.

Results: The lowest hazard ratio (HR) for disability was at BMI of 25 to <30 (HR=0.97; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.85-1.12). The lowest HR for mortality were seen among participants with BMIs 25 to <30 (HR=0.85; 95% CI, 075-0.97), 30 to <35 (HR=0.86; 95% CI, 0.72-1.02), and \geq 35 (HR=0.92; 95 % CI, 0.70-1.22).

Conclusion: Mexican older adults with a BMI of 25 to <30 were at less risk for both disability and mortality.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| List of Tablesviii |
|--------------------------|
| List of Figuresix |
| List of Abbreviationsx |
| Chapter 1 Introduction11 |
| Chapter 2 Methods |
| Study Sample13 |
| Independent Variables14 |
| Comorbidities14 |
| Obesity14 |
| Outcome Variable15 |
| Statistical Analysis15 |
| Chapter 3 Results |
| Chapter 4 Discussion |
| Limitation25 |
| Chapter 4 Conclusion |
| References |
| Vita |

List of Tables

| Table 1: | Baseline characteristics of sample population | |
|----------|---|----|
| Table 2: | Cox proportional hazards models | 20 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: | Hazard ratios predicting disability during 11-year of follow-up as | | | |
|-----------|---|--|--|--|
| | function of BMI | | | |
| Figure 2: | Hazard ratios predicting mortality during 11-year of follow-up as a | | | |
| | function of BMI23 | | | |

List of Abbreviations

| ADL | Activity of Daily Living |
|------|---|
| BMI | Body Mass Index |
| CI | Confidence Interval |
| GSBS | Graduate School of Biomedical Science |
| HR | Hazard Ratio |
| HRS | Health and Retirement Study |
| MHAS | Mexican Health and Aging Study |
| SABE | Health, Well-Being and Aging in Latin America and the Caribbean Study |
| SD | Standard Deviation |
| US | United States of America |
| UTMB | University of Texas Medical Branch |

Chapter 1 Introduction

The number of older adults is increasing substantially, especially in developing countries, including Mexico.¹ Over the last few years, Mexico has undergone an unprecedented demographic change, a rapidly aging population, due to a declining birthrate and improved life expectancy. According to the Mexican National Population Council, the number of older persons aged 65 years and over is expected to be 25.9 million by the year 2050.² Obesity [usually assessed by body mass index (BMI), calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared³] is a concern for public health officials and policy makers. Numerous studies have documented an increase in the prevalence of obesity worldwide, a trend described as an "epidemic". The prevalence of obesity in Mexico surpassed other countries.⁴ The National Health Survey 2000 of Mexico reported that 39% of older adults were overweight and 26% were obese.⁵ The growing prevalence of obesity will lead to an increase of obesity-related chronic diseases.^{5, 6}

The effect of obesity on disability and mortality in older adults has been studied extensively in western countries, including the United States and Europe.⁷⁻¹² Studies have shown an obesity-associated increased risk of mortality^{13, 14} although others report a decreased risk of mortality with increasing levels of BMI.^{10, 15, 16} For example, Calle et al. examined the effect of BMI on mortality in the U.S. adult population and found lower risk of all-cause mortality with BMI between 23.5 to 24.9 in men and 22.0 to 23.4 in women. However, the risk associated with a higher BMI diminished after age 75.¹⁷

Examining the effect of obesity on both disability and mortality, Al Snih et al. found a decreased risk of mortality with BMIs between 25 and <35 and higher risk of disability with BMIs <18.5 or \geq 30 in American older adults.¹² Findings from the Rotterdam cohort study showed that BMI was associated with higher incidence of disability and diminished effect on mortality for BMIs ranging 25-35.¹⁸ Findings from the Health and Retirement Study (HRS) showed that the risk of falls and disability was higher in older adults with BMIs of 30.0-39.9.¹⁹

Few studies have examined the relationship between obesity, disability, and mortality in Mexican older adults.²⁰⁻²² Findings from the Health, Well-Being and Aging in Latin America and the Caribbean Study (SABE) found greater disability among older adults with BMIs of 25-34.9.²² However, Monteverde et al. compared the risk of 2-year mortality associated with obesity in Mexican older adults and found higher mortality risk among Mexicans with BMIs >27.3.²¹ The effects of BMI on disability and mortality have been examined in the U.S. population and other countries but little is known regarding Mexican older adults.^{12, 16, 17} The objective of this study was to examine the effect of obesity on disability and mortality over 11 years of follow up among Mexicans aged 50 years and older non-disabled at baseline.

Chapter 2 Methods

Study Sample

Participants were from the Mexican Health and Aging Study (MHAS). The MHAS is a national representative sample of Mexicans aged 50 years and older in 2001. Respondents were randomly selected from households with at least one individual aged 50 or older and their spouse/partner regardless of their age. The sample is representative of both rural and urban areas, and states with high migration to the U.S. were oversampled.²³ In 2001, self or proxy interviews were conducted with 15,146 selected persons and spouse/partner, for a response rate of 93%. Of these, a random sub-sample of 2,573 completed anthropometric measures. Two follow-ups were conducted in 2003 and 2012.²⁴ A direct interview was conducted when possible, and proxy interviews were obtained when participants were in poor health or temporarily absent. Information on socio-demographics, health service utilization, comorbidities, functional limitations, cognitive function, depressive symptoms, anthropometric measure (weight and height), work history, and family background were collected at each interview. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards or Ethics Committees of the University of Texas Medical Branch in the United States, the Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía and the Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública in México. The present study includes participants who reported no limitations in activities of daily living (ADL) at baseline (2001), were interviewed in person, and had complete data on BMI and all covariates. Of the 14,142 participants interviewed in person, 1,459 reported one or more ADL limitations, 2,640 had missing information on BMI, and 1,628 had missing

information on covariates. The final sample is 8,415. At end of follow-up (2012), 4,854 participants were re-interviewed in person, 2,325 were lost to follow-up, and 1,236 were confirmed dead through relatives reports. Excluded participants (N=5,727) were significantly more likely than included participants to be older, female, married, have a lower level of education, never smoked, have low BMI, and report more arthritis, hypertension, heart attack, stroke, diabetes, falls, and fractures.

Independent Variables

Socio-demographic variables included age, gender, years of formal education, and marital status (married vs. unmarried). Smoking status was determined by asking participants if they were current smokers, former smokers, or never smokers.

Comorbidities

Comorbidities were recorded by asking participants if they have ever been diagnosed by a physician for the following medical conditions: hypertension, diabetes, heart attack, stroke, arthritis, falls, fracture, and cancer.

Obesity

BMI was grouped according to the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute obesity standards into underweight (<18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (18.5 to <25 kg/m²), overweight (25 <30 kg/m²), obesity type I (30 to <35), and obesity type II or morbid obesity (\geq 35).³ When self-reported height and weight were not obtained, height and weight measured were used (N=591).

Outcome Variable

Disability was measured using the Katz index of independence in ADLs. Participants were asked about any difficulty or assistance needed in performing the following: walking across a small room, bathing, dressing, eating, getting in and out of bed, and using the toilet. Disability was dichotomized as having difficulty or no difficulty in performing one or more of the six ADLs. Mortality assessed through report from relatives

Statistical Analysis

Chi-Square and ANOVA tests were used to examine the distribution of covariates for participants by status at the end of 11-year follow-up period. Cox proportional hazards regression analysis was used to estimate the hazard ratio (HR) of incidence of ADL disability and the HR of mortality as a function of BMI category at baseline, controlling for all covariates. Participants who died or were lost to follow-up were censored at the date of last follow-up (last interview data for the 11-years of follow-up). BMI was also analyzed as a continuous variable in terms of disability and mortality using Martingale residuals from Cox proportional hazard models adjusted for all covariates. A J-shaped or U-shaped association between BMI and disability or mortality was found when we applied weighted scatterplot smooth method to the Martingale residuals.²⁵ The location knot (inflection point) on the curves was estimated by nonlinear least squares regression analysis and used to fit piecewise Cox proportional hazards models to estimate the hazard ratios from BMIs of 15 to 40. Three models assessed the effect of BMI on disability and mortality. Model 1 was adjusted for socio-demographic

characteristics and baseline comorbidities, Model 2 was not adjusted for baseline comorbidities, and Model 3 excluded current smokers and those who died during the first five years of follow-up and was adjusted for baseline comorbidities. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

Chapter 3 Results

Table 1 shows the baseline characteristics of the sample by status at the end of the 11-year follow-up. Of 8,415 total participants, 3,043 (36.2%) remained non-disabled during follow-up, 1,305 (15.5%) became ADL disabled (including those who became disabled before they died), 1,067 (12.7%) died, and 3,000 (35.6%) were lost to follow-up. Participants who became ADL disabled and died during the follow-up were significantly more likely to be older, have lower levels of education, be underweight and report more comorbid conditions than those without disability or who were lost to follow-up. Also, participants who became disabled were significantly more likely than other groups to be female and have a BMI \geq 30.

| Variable | Nondisabled | Disabled | Dead | Lost to | P value | |
|--------------------------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|----------|--|
| | N (%) | N (%) | N (%) | follow-up | | |
| | | | | N (%) | | |
| Total | 3,043(36.2) | 1,305(15.5) | 1,067(12.7) | 3000(35.6) | | |
| Age, mean | 56.3(8.3) | 61.5(9.8) | 66.0(10.2) | 58.2(10.4) | < 0.0001 | |
| (SD) | | | | | | |
| Female | 1,698(55.8) | 791(60.6) | 447(41.8) | 1,609(53.6) | <0.0001 | |
| Education | 5.8(4.6) | 3.9(4.6) | 4.2(4.2) | 6.2(6.1) | < 0.0001 | |
| (years), mean | | | | | | |
| (SD) | | | | | | |
| Married | 2,149(70.6) | 851(65.2) | 624(58.4) | 1,962(65.4) | < 0.0001 | |
| Smoking statu | 15 | I | <u> </u> | | | |
| Never | 1,727(56.75) | 753(57.7) | 489(45.8) | 1,659(55.2) | < 0.0001 | |
| Former | 768(25.2) | 366(28.0) | 352(32.9) | 730(24.3) | | |
| Current | 548(18.0) | 186(14.2) | 226(21.1) | 614(20.4) | - | |
| Body mass index (BMI) category | | | | | | |
| Underweight | 45(1.48) | 41(3.1) | 47(4.4) | 58(1.9) | < 0.0001 | |
| (<18.5) | | | | | | |
| Normal | 929(30.5) | 356(27.2) | 392(36.7) | 975(32.5) | | |
| (18.5 to <25) | | | | | | |
| Overweight | 1,344(44.1) | 478(36.6) | 424(39.7) | 1,307(43.5) | | |
| (25 to <30) | | | | | | |
| Obese Type I | 559(18.3) | 287(21.9) | 152(14.2) | 500(16.6) | | |

 Table 1:
 Baseline characteristics of sample population

| (30 to <35) | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|
| Obesity Type | 166(5.4) | 143(10.9) | 52(4.8) | 160(5.3) | |
| II or morbid | | | | | |
| obese (≥35) | | | | | |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 27.2(4.9) | 28.0(5.9) | 26.3(5.3) | 26.9(4.9) | < 0.0001 |
| mean (SD) | | | | | |
| Comorbidities | | | | | |
| Arthritis | 417(13.7) | 359(27.5) | 203(19.0) | 442(14.7) | < 0.0001 |
| Diabetes | 282(9.2) | 257(19.6) | 278(26.0) | 375(12.5) | <0.0001 |
| Hypertension | 917(30.1) | 578(44.2) | 435(40.7) | 941(31.3) | <0.0001 |
| Stroke | 26(0.8) | 35(2.6) | 32(3.0) | 47(1.5) | < 0.0001 |
| Heart Attack | 57(1.8) | 43(3.3) | 59(5.5) | 74(2.4) | < 0.0001 |
| Cancer | 35(1.1) | 33(2.5) | 25(2.3) | 53(1.7) | 0.004 |
| Fracture | 286(9.4) | 173(13.2) | 141(13.2) | 270(9.0) | < 0.0001 |
| Falls | 907(29.8) | 509(39.0) | 385(36.0) | 914(30.4) | < 0.0001 |

Note: Status at the end of the 11-year follow-up period (N=8415). SD=Standard Deviation BMI=Body Mass Index

| | ADL Disability | | | Mortality | | |
|---------------------|----------------|------------|---------------|-------------|----------------|--|
| BMINo. ofNo. (%) of | | HR (95% | No. (%) | HR (95% CI) | | |
| category | subjects | subjects | Confidence | of subject | | |
| | (N=8415) | (N=1305) | Interval (CI) | (N=1236) | | |
| Underweight | 191 | 41(3.14) | 1.58(1.14- | 59(4.77) | 1.31(1.00- | |
| (<18.5) | | | 2.18) | | 1.72) | |
| Normal | 2,652 | 356(27.28) | 1.00 | 455(4.77) | 1.00 | |
| (18.5 to | | | (Reference) | | (Reference) | |
| <25) | | | | | | |
| Overweight | 3,553 | 478(36.63) | 0.97(0.85- | 483(39.08) | 0.85(0.750.97) | |
| (25 to <30) | | | 1.12) | | | |
| Obese Type | 1,498 | 287(21.99) | 1.31(1.12- | 178(14.40) | 0.86(0.72- | |
| I (30 to <35) | | | 1.54) | | 1.02) | |
| Type II or | 521 | 143(10.9) | 1.87(1.56- | 61(4.94) | 0.92(0.70- | |
| morbid | | | 2.29) | | 1.22) | |
| obese | | | | | , | |
| (≥35) | | | | | | |

 Table 2:
 Cox proportional hazards models

Note: Predicting the hazard ratios (HRs) of disability and mortality as a function of body mass index (BMI) among non-disabled Mexican older adults at baseline during the 11 year follow-up period.

Table 2 presents the results of Cox proportional hazard models for disability and mortality as a function of baseline BMI category, controlling for age, gender, marital status, level of formal education, smoking status, and comorbidities. Compared to normal weight, the Hazard Ratio (HR) of becoming ADL disabled were higher for those with BMI <18.5 or \geq 30. Compared to normal weight, those with BMI <18.5 had the highest HR for mortality and those with BMI 25 <30 had the lowest.

Figures 1 and 2 show the HR for disability and mortality using BMI as a continuous variable. For each outcome, three Models are presented. Model 1 was adjusted for socio-demographic characteristics and baseline comorbidity, Model 2 was not adjusted for baseline comorbidity, and Model 3 excluded current smokers and those who died during the first 5 years of follow-up, and was adjusted for baseline comorbidity.

The BMIs associated with the lowest HR of becoming ADL disabled was 26.0 (95% CI: 24.2, 27.7) in Model 1, 25.8 (95% CI: 24.2, 27.4) in Model 2, and 26.9 (95% CI: 24.9, 29.0) in Model 3, with a fairly steep increase in the hazard for disability with lower and higher BMIs. The BMIs associated with the lowest HR of mortality was 25.4 (95% CI: 23.1, 27.7) in Model 1; 25.3 (95% CI: 23.1, 27.6) in Model 2; and 24.9 (95% CI: 22.2, 27.6) in Model 3, with a fairly steep increase in the hazard for mortality with lower BMIs and a more gradual increase in the hazard with higher BMIs. The inflection estimates points were not statistically significantly different across the three models for either disability or mortality.

Figure 1: Hazard ratios predicting disability during 11-year of follow-up as a function of BMI



Note: Model 1 was adjusted for socio-demographic characteristics and baseline comorbidities. Model 2 was not adjusted for baseline comorbidities. Model 3 excluded current smokers and those who died during the first 5 years of follow-up, and were adjusted for baseline comorbidities. Values are hazard ratios (95% Confidence Interval).

Figure 2: Hazard ratios predicting mortality during 11-year of follow-up as a function of BMI



Note: Model 1 was adjusted for socio-demographic characteristics and baseline comorbidities. Model 2 was not adjusted for baseline comorbidities. Model 3 excluded current smokers and those who died during the first 5 years of follow-up, and was adjusted for baseline comorbidities. Values are hazard ratios (95% Confidence Interval).

Chapter 4 Discussion

This study examined the effect of obesity on disability and mortality among Mexican older adult's non-disabled at baseline. The relationship between BMI and ADL disability was mostly U-shaped. The higher HR of becoming ADL disabled was seen in the underweight, obese, and morbid obese categories compared with normal weight, while those in the overweight category had the lowest HR of becoming ADL disabled. The relationship between BMI and mortality was mostly an inverted J-shape. Participants in the overweight category showed a lower HR of mortality compared with normal weight. Those with BMIs ≥30 had an increased HR of mortality, but the increase was not statistically significant.

Our results are consistent with previous studies demonstrating a protective effect of being overweight on disability and mortality.^{12, 14} The association between obesity and disability is possibly supported by the following pathways: a) obesity is a risk factor for chronic conditions such as heart disease, stroke, diabetes, arthritis, and other degenerative diseases, which in due course increases the risk of disability;^{19, 26, 27} and b) the decrease in lean mass and increase in fat mass associated with aging-a phenomenon called "sarcopenic-obesity"-has been associated with diminished functional performance which leads to disability.^{28, 29}

Perhaps the most interesting finding was the lack of association between obesity and mortality, particularly in the morbid obesity group. There are three plausible explanations for this observation. The first is survival bias, wherein only healthy obese individuals were alive and able to enroll in the study. However, we addressed this concern by adjusting for comorbidity, by excluding current smokers, and by excluding participants who died during the first 5 years of follow-up (Figure 2). Second, while 11 years is a respectable follow-up period for a longitudinal study, it may not be sufficient to evaluate mortality risk in our relatively young sample (mean age, 59 years). Lastly, participants with higher BMIs are more likely to have chronic disease and may receive more medical attention which helps them survive longer.

Limitation

This study has some limitations. First, we used self-reported heights and weights to compute BMI, which may underestimate the effect on disability and mortality. However, studies have shown good validity of self-reported height and weight in the Mexican population.³⁰ Second, comorbidities were also obtained by self-reports, but good agreement have been reported between self-reported comorbidities and medical chart review.³¹ Third, we did not include physical activity in our analysis. Studies have found physical activity levels associated with disability and mortality.^{32, 33} This study also has several strengths, including its large, well-defined representative sample of Mexican older adults, the prospective design, and the 11-year follow-up period. To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the long-term effect of obesity on disability and mortality in a large sample of non-disabled Mexicans older adults.

Chapter 4 Conclusion

In conclusion, we found BMI to be a strong predictor of ADL disability and mortality in Mexican older adults. Prevalence of obesity is increasing in Latin America, including Mexico. The current increasing rate of obesity in Mexico will produce more obesity-related comorbidities associated with an increased risk of disability. Disability not only affects the independence of older adults, but also increases the burden on family members, care givers, and society. Our study suggests a need for obesity prevention programs in the Mexican population. The Mexican government launched the universal health care "*Seguro Popular*" program during the study period (2004) providing health care to 50 million previously-uninsured Mexicans.³⁴ The findings from our study have considerable public health importance in the development of obesity management programs for the older Mexican population.

References

- 1. World Health Organization, *Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health*. 2009: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 2. CONAPO, *Envejecimiento de la población de México:Reto del siglo XXI*. 2005, Consejo Nacional de Población.
- National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. *Classification of Overweight and Obesity by BMI, Waist Circumference, and Associated Disease Risks*. 2013 [cited 2013 April 30]; Available from: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/obesity/lose_wt/bmi_dis.htm.
- 4. The State of Food and Agriculture, *Food Systems for Better Nutrition*. 2013, United Nations: Rome.
- 5. Olaiz G, Rojas R, Barquera S, Shamah T, Aguilar C, Cravioto Pea, *National Health Survey 2000.Tomo 2 adult health.* 2003, National Public Health Institute Mexico: Cuernavaca, Morelos.
- 6. Ruiz-Arregui L, Castillo-Martínez L, Orea-Tejeda A, Mejía-Arango S, Miguel-Jaimes A. Prevalence of self-reported overweight-obesity and its association with socioeconomic and health factors among older Mexican adults. Salud Pública de México 2007; 49: s482-s487.
- 7. de Hollander EL, Bemelmans WJ, Boshuizen HC, Friedrich N, Wallaschofski H, Guallar-Castillon P, Walter S, Zillikens MC, Rosengren A, Lissner L, Bassett JK, Giles GG, Orsini N, Heim N, Visser M, de Groot LC. The association between waist circumference and risk of mortality considering body mass index in 65- to 74-year-olds: a meta-analysis of 29 cohorts involving more than 58 000 elderly persons. International Journal of Epidemiology 2012; 41: 805-817.
- 8. Guallar-Castillon P, Sagardui-Villamor J, Banegas JR, Graciani A, Fornes NS, Lopez Garcia E, Rodriguez-Artalejo F. Waist circumference as a predictor of disability among older adults. Obesity 2007; 15: 233-244.
- 9. Jacobs EJ, Newton CC, Wang Y, Patel AV, McCullough ML, Campbell PT, Thun MJ, Gapstur SM. Waist circumference and all-cause mortality in a large US cohort. Archives of Internal Medecine 2010; 170: 1293-1301.
- 10. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Body mass index is inversely related to mortality in older people after adjustment for waist circumference. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2005; 53: 2112–2118.
- Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, van der Schouw YT, Spencer E, Moons KG, Tjonneland A, Halkjaer J, Jensen MK, Stegger J, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Chajes V, Linseisen J, Kaaks R, Trichopoulou A, Trichopoulos D, Bamia C, Sieri S, Palli D, Tumino R, Vineis P, Panico S, Peeters PH, May AM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, van Duijnhoven FJ, Hallmans G, Weinehall L, Manjer J, Hedblad B, Lund E, Agudo A, Arriola L,

Barricarte A, Navarro C, Martinez C, Quiros JR, Key T, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Boffetta P, Jenab M, Ferrari P, Riboli E. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. New England Journal Medecine 2008; 359: 2105-2120.

- 12. Al Snih S, Ottenbacher KJ, Markides KS, Kuo YF, Eschbach K, Goodwin JS. The Effect of Obesity on Disability vs Mortality in Older Americans. Archives of Internal Medecine 2007; 167: 774-780.
- 13. Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H, Graubard BI. Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using standard body mass index categories: A systematic review and meta-analysis. The Journal of the American Medical Association 2013; 309: 71-82.
- 14. Jee SH, Sull JW, Park J, Lee S-Y, Ohrr H, Guallar E, Samet JM. Body-Mass Index and Mortality in Korean Men and Women. The New England Journal of Medicine 2006; 355: 779-787.
- 15. Weiss A, Beloosesky Y, Boaz M, Yalov A, Kornowski R, E. G. Body mass index is inversely related to mortality in elderly subjects. Journal of General Internal Medecine 2008; 23: 19-24.
- 16. Grabowski D,Ellis J. High body mass index does not predict mortality in older people: analysis of the Longitudinal Study of Aging. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2001; 49: 968-979.
- 17. Calle E, Thun M, Petrelli J, Rodriguez C, Heath CJ. Body-Mass Index and Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of U.S. Adults. New England Journal of Medecine 1999; 341: 1097-1105.
- Walter S, Kunst A, Mackenbach J, Hofman A, Tiemeier H. Mortality and Disability: The Effect of Overweight and Obesity. International Journal of Obesity 2009; 33: 1410 -1418.
- 19. Himes CL, Reynolds SL. Effect of Obesity on Falls, Injury, and Disability. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2012; 60: 124-129.
- 20. Al Snih S, Graham JE, Kuo YF, Goodwin JS, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Obesity and Disability: Relation among Older Adults living in Latin America and the Caribbean. American Journal of Epedemiology 2010; 171: 1282-1288.
- 21. Monteverde M, Noronha K, Palloni A, Novak B. Obesity and excess mortality among the elderly in the United States and Mexico. Demography 2010; 47: 79-96.
- 22. Nam S, Kuo YF, Markides KS, Al Snih S. Waist circumference (WC), body mass index (BMI), and disability among older adults in Latin American and the Caribbean (LAC). Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 2012; 55: e40-e47.
- 23. Wong R, Peláez M, Palloni A, Markides K. Survey Data for the Study of Aging in Latin America and the Caribbean: Selected Studies. Journal of Aging and Health 2006; 18: 157-179.
- 24. Mexican Health and Aging Study (MHAS). *Data Files and Documentation* (*public use*): *Mexican Health and Aging Study*, 2013 [cited 2013 20 October]; Available from: http://www.mhasweb.org/.

- 25. Klein J,Moeschaberger M, eds. *Survival Analysis: Techniques for Censored and Truncated Data*. 1997, Springer Publishing Co Inc: New York, NY.
- 26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Obesity Halting the Epidemic by Making Health Easier*. 2011 [cited 2013 7 October]; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/aag/pdf/2011/obesity_a ag_web_508.pdf.
- 27. Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. THe disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. The Journal of the American Medical Association 1999; 282: 1523-1529.
- 28. Kennedy RL, Chokkalingham K, Srinivasan R. Obesity in the elderly: who should we be treating, and why, and how? Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care 2004; 7: 3-9.
- 29. Sternfeld B, Ngo L, Satariano WA, IB. T. Associations of body composition with physical performance and self-reported functional limitation in elderly men and women. American Journal of Epidemiology 2002; 156: 110-121.
- 30. Avila-Funes J, Gutiérrez-Robledo L, Ponce de León-Rosales S. Validity of Height and Weight Self-report in Mexican Adults: Results from the National Health and Aging Study. Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging 2004; 8: 355-361.
- 31. Haapanen N, Miilunpalo S, Pasanen M, Oja P, I. V. Agreement between questionnaire data and medical records of chronic diseases in middle-aged and elderly Finnish men and women. American Journal of Epidemiology 1997; 145: 762-769.
- 32. Koster A, Patel KV, Visser M, Van Eijk JTM, Kanaya AM, De Rekeneire N, Newman AB, Tylavsky FA, Kritchevsky SB, Harris TB, for the Health A, Body Composition S. Joint Effects of Adiposity and Physical Activity on Incident Mobility Limitation in Older Adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2008; 56: 636-643.
- 33. Ottenbacher AJ, Snih SA, Karmarkar A, Lee J, Samper-Ternent R, Kumar A, Bindawas S, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Routine Physical Activity and Mortality in Mexican Americans Aged 75 and Older. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2012; 60: 1085-1091.
- 34. Knaul FM, González-Pier E, Gómez-Dantés O, García-Junco D, Arreola-Ornelas H, Barraza-Lloréns M, Sandoval R, Caballero F, Hernández-Avila M, Juan M, Kershenobich D, Nigenda G, Ruelas E, Sepúlveda J, Tapia R, Soberón G, Chertorivski S, Frenk J. The quest for universal health coverage: achieving social protection for all in Mexico. The Lancet 2012; 380: 1259-1279.

Amit Kumar was born on September 12, 1978 in Patna, India to Binod Prasad Singh and Ahilya Sinha. He completed his bachelor in Physical therapy from Government Medical College in Nagpur, India in 2000. He worked as a Physical therapist in community based rehabilitation in global health setting in developing countries including India, Nepal, and other Asian countries. He earned his MS from the University of Pittsburgh in 2010. During his master studies, he was involved in validating patient centered outcome measure tool for measuring satisfaction for using mobility device.

Permanent address: 606 University Blvd, Galveston, TX, 77550 This capstone was typed by the author.